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State of Missouri
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)
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)


vs.
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No. 03-1937 MC




)

TOM CRAIG, d/b/a CRAIG’S
)

BACKHOE SERVICE,
)




)



Respondent.
)

DECISION


Tom Craig violated federal law by allowing an employee to drive without having negative drug testing results and by failing to perform post-accident alcohol testing on the driver.

Procedure


On September 29, 2003, the Missouri Highways and Transportation Commission (MHTC) filed a complaint against Tom Craig, d/b/a Craig’s Backhoe Service.  We held a hearing on April 9, 2004.  Senior Assistant Counsel David E. Woodside
 represented the MHTC.  Craig represented himself.  The matter became ready for our decision on June 24, 2004, the date the court reporter filed the transcript.

Findings of Fact

1. Craig does business as and operates Craig’s Backhoe Service, a backhoe basement construction business, at Rural Route 2, Cole Camp, Missouri. 

2. On May 24, 2002, Transportation Enforcement Inspector Tom Sims performed a compliance review of Craig’s Backhoe Service.  Henry C. Knight, an inspector in training, accompanied Sims.

3. The review revealed 12 violations, and Craig was given an unsatisfactory safety rating.  The inspectors explained the violations and left written materials, including copies of the federal regulations, a state compliance manual, and a sample drug and alcohol policy.

4. Craig owns a 1981 Ford dump truck (truck).  The gross vehicle weight rating of the truck is 28,000 pounds.

5. On March 13, 2003, Craig’s employee Anthony Hertel drove the truck in intrastate commerce from Smasal Aggregates, Cole Camp, Missouri, to Golden Acres, in or near Cole Camp, Missouri.  It was his first day of work, and he was transporting surface stone.

6. On March 13, 2003, Craig did not have a negative pre-employment controlled substance test result for Hertel.

7. Driving a commercial motor vehicle is a safety sensitive function.

8. On March 13, 2003, at approximately 2:00 p.m., Hertel was involved in an accident while driving the truck.  The truck was towed from the scene, and Hertel was taken to a hospital by ambulance.

9. Hertel was issued two citations, one for operating a motor vehicle in a careless and impudent manner and one for operating a motor vehicle without wearing a seat belt.  The charges were dismissed by the prosecuting attorney.

10. Craig failed to test Hertel for alcohol within two to eight hours of the accident.  Craig did not document the reason for this failure.’

11. Craig believed that he had two weeks to conduct the alcohol test.  During the compliance review, Sims had informed him that he had two weeks to obtain drug testing information on a driver from prior employers and thirty days to complete the driver qualification file.  Craig understood that the two-week time frame applied to all drug testing matters.

12. On June 2, 2003, Knight performed a follow-up compliance review.

Conclusions of Law 


We have jurisdiction to hear the complaint.  Section 621.040, RSMo Supp. 2003.
  The MHTC asks this Commission to find that Craig violated federal and state regulations.  The MHTC also requests permission to file suit in circuit court for injunctive relief and monetary penalties.
  Craig has the burden of proof under § 622.350, which states:

In all trials, actions, suits and proceedings arising under the provisions of this chapter or growing out of the exercise of the authority and powers granted in this chapter to the [MHTC], the burden of proof shall be upon the party adverse to the [MHTC] . . . to show by clear and satisfactory evidence that the determination, requirement, direction or order of the [MHTC] complained of is unreasonable or unlawful as the case may be.

Federal Law


The MHTC argues that Craig violated 49 CFR § 382.301, which states:

(a) Prior to the first time a driver performs safety-sensitive functions for an employer, the driver shall undergo testing for controlled substances as a condition prior to being used, unless the employer uses the exception in paragraph (b) of this section.  No employer shall allow a driver, who the employer intends to hire or use, to perform safety-sensitive functions unless the employer has received a controlled substances test result from the MRO or C/TPA indicating a verified negative test result for that driver.

Craig argued that the federal regulations do not apply to him because he is not a for-hire motor carrier.  However, the truck involved in the accident was a 1981 Ford dump truck with a gross vehicle weight rating of 28,000 pounds.  A vehicle with a gross vehicle weight of 26,001 pounds or greater is classified as a commercial motor vehicle and must be in compliance with the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations. 
  The driver must have a commercial driver’s license.


Craig allowed Hertel to drive the commercial motor vehicle without having a negative drug test result for the driver.  Craig did not argue or prove that any of the exceptions listed in 

49 CFR § 382.301(b) were applicable.  Craig violated federal law.


The MHTC also argues that Craig violated 49 CFR § 382.303, which states:

(a) As soon as practicable following an occurrence involving a commercial motor vehicle operating on a public road in commerce, each employer shall test for alcohol for each of its surviving drivers:

*   *   *

(2) Who receives a citation within 8 hours of the occurrence under State or local law for a moving traffic violation arising from the accident, if the accident involved:

(i) Bodily injury to any person who, as a result of the injury, immediately receives medical treatment away from the scene of the accident[.]

*   *   *

(d)(1) Alcohol tests.  If a test required by this section is not administered within two hours following the accident, the employer shall prepare and maintain on file a record stating the reasons the test was not promptly administered.  If a test required by this section is not administered within eight hours following the accident, the employer shall cease attempts to administer an alcohol test and shall prepare and maintain the same record.  Records shall be submitted to the FMCSA upon request.


The alcohol test was required because Hertel’s injuries required that he be transported to and treated at a hospital and because Hertel was issued citations.  Craig argues that the charges against Hertel were dismissed, but the statute clearly states that it is the issuance of the citation – not the subsequent prosecution – that is the triggering event.


Craig did not test Hertel for alcohol within the time required by law or maintain a record of why he did not do so.  Craig argues that he understood that he had more time to cause the test to be performed.  We believe him, but that does not change his liability.  Individuals are presumed to know the law, and ignorance of the law is not an excuse for failing to follow it.  In re Estate of Pittman, 16 S.W.3d 639, 643 (Mo. App., W.D. 2000).  Craig violated federal law.

State Law


The MHTC’s complaint cites no state law that Craig is alleged to have violated.  The complaint cites §§ 307.400, 390.201, and 622.550, and Regulation 11 CSR 30-6.010, in footnotes, for the proposition that it has “authority to enforce Parts 100 through 199 and Parts 350 through 399 of Title 49 Code of Federal Regulations (“49 CFR”), as those regulations have been and may periodically be amended.”  This is correct under §§ 390.201 and 622.550.  These statutes describe the authority to enforce the federal regulations, but do not set forth conduct that can be violated.


Section 307.400, RSMo Supp. 2003, states:


1.  It is unlawful for any person to operate any commercial motor vehicle as defined in Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 390.5, either singly or in combination with a trailer, as both vehicles are defined in Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 390.5, unless such vehicles are equipped and operated as required by Parts 390 through 397, Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, as such regulations have been and may periodically be amended, whether intrastate transportation or interstate transportation. . . . 

Regulation 11 CSR 30-6.010 states:

(1) Commercial motor vehicles and trailers, in addition to all requirements of state law and consistent with section 307.400, RSMo (1986), shall be operated and equipped in compliance with the requirements for drivers and vehicles established in 49 CFR 390-397 and 49 CFR 100-199.

This statute and regulation set forth required conduct, but the MHTC did not allege that Craig’s conduct violated these laws.  It merely cited the laws as authority to bring this action and alleged that Craig’s conduct violated “Missouri law.”  This is insufficient notice of the Missouri law that Craig is alleged to have violated.  Sander v. Missouri Real Estate Comm’n, 710 S.W.2d 896, 901 (Mo. App., E.D. 1986).  In addition, we note that § 307.400 and 11 CSR 30-6.010 refer to federal regulations that are not at issue in this case – 49 CFR §§ 100-109, and 390-397.  We have found that Craig violated provisions in 49 CFR § 382.

Penalty


The MHTC is authorized to seek penalties under § 622.480, which states:


1.  Any carrier, corporation or person which violates or fails to comply with any provision of the constitution of this state or of this or any other law . . . is subject to a penalty of not less than one hundred dollars nor more than two thousand dollars for each offense.

(Emphasis added.)  Although we cannot find a violation of Missouri law due to inadequate notice, the statute allows the penalty for violation of federal laws.

Summary


We find that Craig committed two separate and distinct violations of federal law.


SO ORDERED on July 23, 2004.



________________________________



KAREN A. WINN



Commissioner

	�Woodside did not file the complaint.


	�Craig made a statement:  “The weight limits on the trucks are wrong.”  (Tr. at 57.)  However, he provided no proof to dispute the MHTC’s evidence.


	�Statutory references, unless otherwise noted, are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri.





	�It is unclear whether the MHTC must request authorization from this Commission.  See Missouri Hwys. & Trans. Comm’n v. Coyne, No. 03-1002 MC (Admin. Hearing Comm’n Feb. 17, 2004); Missouri Hwys. & Trans. Comm’n v. Braden, No. 03-0407 MC (Admin. Hearing Comm’n Feb. 4, 2004).


	�Tr. at 45-46.  49 CFR. § 383.5.
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